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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

CHRIS BIANCH],

Plaintiff,
Case #16-CV-6840FPG

DECISION AND ORDER

ROCHESTER CITY SCHOOL DISTRICEt al.,

Defendant.

INTRODUCTION

Pro se Plaintiff Chris Biancht brings this employmentiscrimination action against
Defendants Rochester City School District, Bryant Cromartie, and Rodneye M@mfendants
have moved for summary judgment on alBainchi’'sclaims. ECF No. 38.Bianchiopposes the
motion. ECF No. 56. In addition, Defendants have filed a motiomigcellaneous reliefECF
No. 57. The Court resolves both motions in this omnibus order. For the reasons that follow,
Defendants’ motion for summary judgment is GRANTED, and their motion for Haiseeus
relief is GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART.

LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate when the record shows that there is “noegéispute
as to any materidhct and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of I&ed. R. Civ. P.
56(9; see alscCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986pisputes concerning material
facts are genuine where the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could retdiot dov the

non-moving party. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)In deciding

! Throughout much of this casBianchiwas represented by counséifter Defendants filed their motion
for summary judgmentis counsel withdrewSeeECF No. 48.
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whether genuine issues of material fact exist, the court construes all fadighinmost favorable
to the noamoving party and draws all reasonable inferences in thenawing party’s favor.See
Jeffreys v. City of New YQqré26 F.3d 549, 553 (2d Cir. 2005). However, the-mmving party
“may not rely on conclusory allegations or unsubstantiated speculatioD.1.C. v. Great Am.
Ins. Co, 607 F.3d 288, 292 (2d Cir. 2010) (quotation omitted).
BACKGROUND

Consistent with the applicable standard of review, the following narrative tookithe
undisputed facts and the disputed facts taken in the light most favoraBlanthi Logical
Operations Inc. v. 30 Bird Media, LL.G54 F. Supp. 3d 286, 293 (W.D.N.Y. 2018).

Bianchiis Caucasian and hhsen employed as a teacher forgbleool districsince 2007.
From July 2012 to November 201Bjanchi worked at the Nathaniel Rochester Community
School—where the events underlying this litigation took plac®uring Bianchi’'s tenure,
Cromartie was the assistant principal and Moore was the principal of the sBbtiohre African
American.

The relevanevents begin in May 2014At that time, Brian SantilloaCaucasiarieacher
at the school, wrote an email complaining about how Frances Rogers, a union refpreserda
fellow school employee, handled lysevancesabout the school’s testing procedures. Rogers is
African-American In a responding emailanother AfrianAmerican teacherchallenged
Santillo’'s claims and implied that Santillo was targeting the Afridarerican union
representatives for criticism.

Rogers did not immediately wade into this dispute, but about a month later she sent out a
schoolwide emailvith an inspirational quotaboutadversity. Rogers gloatddat her “haters”

could not get “rid of [her]” despite their “plotting against [her].” PIl. Ex. B-4. Althougidi not



directly involve him, Bianchi cites this incident as evidence of Rogdrias against Caucasian
co-workers.

Bianchi and Rogets conflict began in Fall 2014. One of Rogsnm&sponsibilities was to
oversee the program implementing alternatives to suspension. On October 3, 2014 sBi#nchi
a student out of the classro@nd referredhim to suspension, but Rogers returned the student to
class. Bianchi complained to Principal Mootkat hefound it offensive he was “lectured by a
substitute administrator” about classroom management. PIl. Ex. C7 @&m&nother occasion,
while Bianchi was speaking with two studemt$is classroomRogersentered and yelled that the
students should be going to their next class.

On October 20, 2014, Rogers sent out an email regarding teaddhessbonmanagement.

In a reply email, Bianchi questioned Rogsigedentials, her authority to set policies, and aigue
that “[tleachers should not be giving teachers directives.at 51. He called Rogers by her first
name—Frances—in his email.1d. Rogers respomdithat shdound his reply “amusingdsserted
that he should not “indirectly attack [hgrhnd statedhat shedid not want Bianchi addressing her
by first name.Id.at 50.

On Halloween, Bianchi came to school dressed as Francis Scott Key. He wore tagam
that said “Frances” on itAlthough Bianchi argues that this costume was not provocative, Rogers
believedthat Bianchi’'s costume was intended to antagonize l&re filed an administrative
discrimination complainagainst Bianchi, which was later deemed unfounded

On December 12014,Bianchi and Rogers were in the school office at the same time.
Bianchi wasspeaking with a student about his Christmas costume. He said, “[If] you liked my
Halloween costume[,] you will love this.” PIl. Ex. C1 at 95. At that moment, Ragefsonted

Bianchi and asked if he was “trying to be funnyd. Bianchi and Rogers argued back and forth



until Bianchi left with the student, placing his arm on her shoulder. As they walked Hewn t
hallway, Rogers followed béid them yelling “INAPPROPRIATE TEACHESTUDENT
CONTACT! Id. at 96. Bianchi claims that the contact was, in fact, appropribtger that day,
Rogers and another teacher, Jewell Brown, attemptamhtoncethe student to sahat the contact
had beetmnappropriate.This failed Bianchi asserts that asabsequenheetingoetween Bianchi,
Rogers, Moore, Cromartie, the student, and the student’s mibtivais found that “Bianchi was
telling the truth and Rogers was lying.” ECF No. 564atNonetheless, Bianchi claims that, after
the incident, other staff membessmetimegoked about him “inappropriately touching students.”
Pl. Ex. C3 at 131.

In addition, at some point on the same day, Rogers emailed senior-ditoct
administrators complaining that a flier Bianchi had disseminated was offensive

On January 3, 2015, while Bianchi was walking down the hallway, a stugehéed “Hi
Uncle Bianchi” from an adjacent office. Brown was in the office at the timeenvBianchi
greeted thstudent, he noticed Brown whisper in the student’s ear. Later, the student rdpairted
Brown had discouraged her from calling Bianchi by that term.

On February 2, 2015, Bianchi and Rogers had another conflict when Rogers entered his
classroom without permission. The record does not disclose the details of thistincide

Bianchi constantly complained of Rogessictions during the 2012015 school yeato
school officials. In Bianchi's view, however, neither Moore nor Cromartie teaiicientaction
to respond to his complaints or discipline Rogers.

At the start of the next school year, Bianchi clashed @Gfigina Berryan AfricantAmerican
special education teachdBerry provided services to some of the students in Bianchi’s classroom.

After classon ThursdaySeptember 17, 2015, Berry confronted Bianchi, asserting that he was not



following the curriculum correctly Shealsoimplied that he helped his students cheat on their
final examnations.

Later that day, Bianchi met with Cromartie and Berry to discuss the confoont&turing
thediscussion, Berrgccused Bianchof havingdressed ifiblackface.” She also questiaherhy
Bianchi—i.e.,, a Caucasian manwas playing Bob Marley in classBianchireported Berry’s
commentsto Moore, concerned that the rumor would poison his relationship with African
American staff members and students. Bianchi, Moore, and Cromartiscaltsied the issuand
agreed that the rumor was slarales anccreateda hostile work environment.

Moore instructed Bianchi to stay home on Fridayil he could make a plan to remedy the
situation. On Sunday, Moeand Bianchi spoke by phon&ianchi vented his frustration about
the rumor and expressed his concern about how staff, parents, and studentseabbioh.?
Bianchi stated that théo&st thing for [him] to feel comfortable” would be to take Monday off until
a plan could be formulated that would allay his concerns about Berry and the ridhds. W9
at 13:45.Bianchi elaborated that leeuldhave an “edge” when someone intimidates,l@nd he
did not want to put himself in a situation where that “side” of him wduatmme out.” Moore
agreed with that approach.

Bianchi took work off on Monday, September 21, 20L&ter that dayMoore and Biachi
spoke by phone to assess the situation. Bianchi reiterated his concerns about thendumor
informed Moore that he was meeting with the investigator on ThurdBi@ychi suggested that

he meet with the investigator and then come “into school after [he] talk[s] withuth& PI. Ex.

2 Defendants argue that the audio recordings should not be considered hiatawuaka, they have not
been properly authenticatedsiven that the recordings were produced in discovery, Defendants had an
opportunity to question Bianchi about their authenticity during his sitémo, Defendants do not suggest
that it would be impossible for Bianchi to authenticate the recordingalaatrd Bianchi is proceedimgo

se the Court willnotexclude the audio recordinf®m considerationSee Gordon v. Kaleida Heath99
F.R.D. 380, 393 (W.D.N.Y. 2014).



W10 at 16:45. Moore responded that he was “not telling [Bianchi] what to do” bhubtag be
the best thing.”Id.

On Thursday, September 24, 2015, Bianchi spoke with Moore by phone. During that
conversation, Bianchi noted a union representative’s suggestion that hestegn Friday and
“start fresh on Monday.” Pl. Ex. W8 at 3:28loore stated that he “was going to say that"too
Id. They agreed that Bianchi would return to school on Monday.

Bianchi returedto work on Monday, September 28, 2015, but not without incid&fhile
Bianchi was walking in the hallway, Beraggressively approached him, stepped into his personal
space, amh sarcastically stated “WELCOME BACK.” Bianchi and Rob Burns, an assistant
principal at the school who witnessed the incident, immediately informed Moore. Badlegeis
that Moorewas unduly skeptical anguestionedvhether Berry haactuallymade thestatement
in a “taunting way.” ECF No. 38-3 at 44.

After this incidentMoore toldBianchito “go home and [that] he would contact him when
he had everything figured out.” ECF No. 56 at 33. Bianchi remained out of school on paid lea
for approximately one month.

On October 26, 201%yhile still out on leave, Bianchi met with Maurice SnigieDirector
of Human Resources for thechooldistrict. Snipe told Bianchthat “it [was] time to return to
work” and that he had “been off long enough.” ECF No. 56 at 45. When Bianchi questioned what
measures would be taken to ensure his wellbéngyeindicated hedid not know. In light of
that, Snipeagreed tanvestigatewhether there were any open positions to which Bianchi could
transfer.

Snipe foundan opening for Bianchi as an itinerant social studies teacher. Bianchi claims

that this positiorhad significantly worse working conditions than his present positiur in



Bianchi’'s view, he had “no other option but to either return to a racially hostile work eneinbnm
or transfer to a very undesirable new position.” ECF No. 56 atAd5a result, he accepted the
position.

Before transferringBianchi returned to the Nathaniel Rochester scfara few days.In
that time, Berry again starteccanflict with Bianchi. Specifically, on November 3, 20B&rry
burst into Bianchi’'s room and tokbmestudents to come with her. Bianchi and Berry argued,
with Bianchi telling her that, per Moore, she was not supposed to have contact with him.

After the incident Bianchi wrote to several school and district officials expressing his
anger and frustration that he had been “forced” back to school giverhdneble working
conditions.” ECF No. 381 at 17. In response, the district gave Biapeli administrative leave
until he began his new positiam November 9, 2015. Once in his new position, Bianchi found
that it entailed substantially more work than Snipe had originally led him to believe.

Over the course of these events, Bianchi fitede formal discrimination complaints with
the district, in addition to numerous informal complaints to school and district ffidige filed
his first complaint on September 21, 261&fter he learned of the “blackface” rumeagainst
Berry and Rogers. He alleged that Berry’'s comments were discrimiraaidrihat Rogers had
started the rumor. The internal investigator concluded that Bianchi’s dotspédiscrimination
were “unprovable.” Bianchi asserts that the investigator did not conduct ar fliorough
investigation and that Moore, Cromartie, and othemwodkers provided false or misleading
testimony that undermined the investigation.

Bianchi alleges that he filed a second complaint on October 24, 2015. In this complaint,
Bianchi asserted #t Berry had engaged in racial discrimination and retaliation when she

aggressively said “Welcome Back” to him on September 28, 2015. Defendants contend that



Bianchi never, in fact, submitted this complamthe school districtin any casgthe complant
wasnotinvestigated.

Bianchi filed his third complaint on November 23, 2015. This complaint concerned the
November 3, 2015 incident wherein Berry burst into Bianchi’s classroom uninvited. Tmalinter
investigatoiconcluded that Berry had engaged in unprofessional conduct and had violated Moore’s
directive that she limit her interactions with Bianchi. The investigator concludeddng’s
actions were not the result of race discrimination, howeWwoore issued a written reprimand
agairst Berry for her conductSeeECF No. 38-4 at 2.

In December 2016&Plaintiff brought this complaint. He raises eight claims: (1) hostile
work environment in violation oTitle VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964gainst the school
district; (2) disparatéreatment in violation of Title VII against the school district; (3) retaliation
in violation of Title VII against the school district; (4) hostile work environment itatic;n ofthe
New York State Human Rights Law (“NYSHRL") against all defendgi®sslisparate treatment
in violation ofthe NYSHRL against all defendants; (6) retaliation in violatiorthred NYSHRL
against all defendants; (7) an equal protection violation under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 againsti€romart
and Moore; and (8) a stak@~ equal protetion claim against all defendantsSeeECF No. 3.

DISCUSSION

Before the Court are two motions: Defendants’ motion for summary judgmenheind t
motion for miscellaneous reliefThe Court begins by addressing some preliminary evidentiary
issues before delving into the motion for summary judgment.

I.  Evidentiary Issues
Bianchi filed a voluminous opposition to Defendants’ motion, including a statement of

facts andsupportingaffidavit that, combinedare nearly 150 pages. In doing so, Bianchi has



submitteda variety ofevidence thathe Court may not consider because&auld be inadmissible

at trial See Debrosse v. City of New Y,0fB9 F. App’x 48, 49 (2d Cir. 2018) (summary order).
Given the large volume of evidence that Bianchiteasleredlit is neither practical nor necessary
to exhaustivelydentify each piece oinadmissible evidence on which Bianchi relidsowever,

the Court will highlight twacategorieof evidence that it will not consider: hearsay evidence and
evidence from witnessagho were not identified in Bianchi’s initial disclosures.

Hearsay isan outof-court statement‘'made by someone other than the witfietbat is
“offered for the truth of the matter assertedldg. Indus. Fund v. Local Union No. 3, Int!l
Brotherhood 6 Elec. Workers, ARCIO, 992 F. Supp. 162, 173 (E.D.N.Y. 1996)nless an
exception appliedjearsay evidence is inadmissibletrial Fed. R. Eid. 802. For examplethe
audio recoding of Jewell Brown indicating that Rogers and Berryaari-white” is hearsay
insofar as it is offered to prove the truth of that asserti&®, e.g.Juice Entertainment, LLC v.
Live Nation Entertainment, IncNo. 11-7318 2018 WL 2357748, at4*(D.N.J. May 23, 2018)
Indeed, most of the audio recordirtbat Bianchi has submitted present hearsay problems, as they
are offered to prove the assertions of the speakatso hearsay iBianchi’s allegation that
Cromartie told him that BerrgaidRogers was the source of tHdackfacé& rumor. SeeHowley
v. Town of Stratford217 F.3d 141, 155 (2d Cir. 2000) (plaintiff's testimony thatwvocokers
informed her of supervisor's statements would be inadmissible to prove that theisarpe
“actually made such statements”)

The other issue that must be addressed is Bianchi’s violation of Rule 26(a)(1). Wnder th
rule, each party is obliged to provide the opposing peittythe nameof “each individually likely
to have discoverable information . . . that the disclosing party may use to suppoitritsara

defenses.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(1)(A)(i). Bianchi's initial disclosure does mutfidseveralof



thewitnesses on which he now relies, including Edith Sanders, Sarah Odategel Germain,
Wanda Zawaldski, anéishley Williams Bianchidoes not dispute that he failed to disclose these
witnesses.

Bianchi’s violation implicates Rule 37(c)(1), which provides, “If a party fails twiple
information or identify a witness as required by Rule 26(a) or (e), the gamtt allowed to use
tha information or witness to supply evidence on a motiorunless the failure was substantially
justified or is harmless Defendants ask the Court to preclude Bianchi from relying on these
witnesses“In determining whether it should exercise itsdision and preclude evidence, a court
must consider. . . (1) the partys explanation for the failure to comply with the disclosure
requirement; (2) the importance of the testimony of the precluded witnessdise (@)ejudice
suffered by the opposing pgras a result of having to prepare to meet the new testimony; and (4)
the possibility of a continuan¢e.Giudice v. Harlan No. 15 Civ. 7330, 2017 WL 564085, at *3
(S.D.N.Y. Feb. 10, 2017)nternal brackets omitted).The imposition of an order of priesion
does not require a showing of bad faith on the part of the offending’péudity.

Having considered these factors, the Court agrees that preclusion is appuomdiat the
circumstances.On the first factorBianchi has not provided a persuasive explanation for his
failure. Although he contends that Defendants raised new issuemarasy judgmentmany of
these witnesses simply offer evidence relatingpéaunderlying discriminatiolaimsand cannot
be attributed to some unexpected defefrsr example, Michagbermain’s claim that Rogers had
targetedCaucasian teachers in the pasuld have been relevaitbom the outset of this litigation.
Bianchialso attempt$o blame his prior counsé&r the error. Thidalls flat becaused client is

ordinarily bound by the acts of his lawyebodson v. Runyqr86 F.3d 37, 40 (2d Cit.996),even
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where prior counsetas allegedlynegligent. See Bruce Lee Enters., LLC v. AV.E.L.A.,,INo.
10 CV 2333, 2013 WL 364210, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 30, 2013).

The second facterthe importance of the evidenegs at best neutral: much dhe
evidenceis inadmissible on hearsay grounds, though some ehetslight on the events
underlying Bianchi’s claims.

The third and fourth factors strongly favor Defendants. Defendants have had no
opportunity to investigate or examine @idkegations raised by these witnessasl given the sheer
length of time this motion has been pending, it would be impracticable and unfairitmiedhe
case. Accordingly, these factors favor preclusion of this evidencéh@@burt will not conside
the evidence from Bianchi’s undisclosed witnesses in resolving Defendantshmoti

In short, the reason why the Court omits discussion of much of the evidence tha&i Bianc
proffers is because it contains inadmissible hearsagraesfrom undisclosed vmesses.

[I.  Hostile Work Environment Claims

Under Title VII and the NYSHRL, Bianchi claims that he was subjected to dehastik
environment. His claims amimarily based on the actions of Rogers, Berry, and Brown during
the 2014-2015 school year and Fall 2015.

To prevail on a hostilavork environmentclaim, Bianchi must show:“(1) that the
harassment was sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions erhpisyment and
create an abusive working environment, and (2) that therespe@fic basis for imputing the
conduct creating the hostile work environment to the employSumma v. Hofstra Univ708
F.3d 115, 124 (2d Cir. 2013):[A] plaintiff must show that the workplace is permeated with
discriminatory intimidation, ridiculeand insult that is sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the

conditions of the victim’s employment and create an abusive working environmenstdridsird
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has both objective and subjective components: the conduct complained of must be severe or
pervasive enough that a reasonable person would find it hostile or abusive, and the victim mus
subjectively perceive the work environment to be abusivkittlejohn v. City of N.Y.795 F.3d

297, 32621 (2d Cir. 2015{internal quotation marks and citatiommitted) A plaintiff must also
produce evidence that the hostility occurred because of his protected chaiactRigtra v.
Rochester Genesee Regransp. Auth.743 F.3d 11, 20 (2d Cir. 2014 determining whether

an environment is “hostile” or “abusive,” courts may consider “the frequenby discriminatory
conduct; its severity; whether it is physically threatening or humiliating, or a ofénsive
utterance; and whether it unreasonably interferes with an employee’s warkerte. . .[But]

no single factor is required.’Howley, 217 F.3d at 154internal quotation marks and citation
omitted).

Even looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to Bianchi, no reasonable juror
could concludehat the harassment to which he was subjected was either severe or pervasive. In
Fall and Winter 2014Bianchi and Rogers haal handful of conflicts in the workplace, but they
were sporadic incidents that cannot be said to have permeated the worlekaeeg, Stepheny
v. Brooklyn Hebrew Sch. for Special Childr856 F. Supp. 2d 248, 2&56 (E.D.N.Y. 2005)co-
worker’s “utterance of ‘white bitch’ or some variation thereof to [plaintiffpftimes over an
approximately fivemonth period” was insufficient to support claim for hostile work environment)
Indeed the conflicts did not overtly implicate or target Bianchi’'s rad&least on their face, the
incidents arose from Bianchi and Rogers’s mutual enmity over Rogers’s role ichtiw, and
thus ‘reflected a clash of personalities rather than a discriminatory animé@tengada v. Int'l

Bus. Machs. Corp88 F. Supp. 2d 236, 243 (S.D.N.Y. 2000).

3 The evidence on which Bianchi relies to assert that Rogers is racistwhitdj” and spread the
“blackface” rumor is inadmissible hearsay and may not be consid8estfted. R. Civ. P. 58)(2).
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In Fall 2015, Bianchi was subjected to hostility from Beyhile Berry’s hostility more
overtly implicatedBianchi’s race, the incidentswere alsoepisodicin nature;they were not
continuous conflicts that permeated the workplace and thereby alt@ehchi’'s working
conditions.

And even if it was false and frustratiri§janchi has not proffered sufficient evidence that
the “blackface” rumor created a hostile work environment. He asserts that a-feerkess
appeared to adlifferently towards him and that Berry expressedright hostility due to the
rumor, but the recordiacksevidence to suggest that the rumor had any widespread impeet.
Parker v. Reema Consulting Servs., |8d.5 F.3d 297, 304 (@ Cir. 2019)(rumorthat employee
had sexual relationship with boss sufficient to state a claim, vémepéoyee alleged thatimor
caused heto be physically threatened, led to “open resentment and disrespect” friworloers,
and significantly interfered with her workAbsentmore tangibléharm,Bianchi’s subjective fear
that the rumor would ultimately impact his working relationships is not enough to support his
claim. See Whitright v. Hartford Pub. Sch847 F. Supp. 2d 171, 177 (D. Conn. 2008) (stating
that a hoste work environment claim requires both that the victim “subjectively perceateita
environment [is] abusiveandthat the misconduct besevere or pervasive enough to create an
objectively hostile or abusive work environment”).

Evenif the Court werdo look at all these incidents in their totality, therensufficient
evidenceto establish thaBianchiwas subjected to severe or pervasive harassm&his is not
to say that the treatment Bianchi received fromwookers was fair or professional, only that the

evidence he has marshalled is insufficient to meet the high standard reqeséabtsha hostile

4 To the extent Bianchi argues thsthool officials’ failure to remediate the hostile work environment
thereby contributed to it, the Second Circuit has rejected that I&@ge. Fincher v. Depository Trust &
Clearing Corp, 604 F.3d 712, 724 (2d Cir. 2010).
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work environment claimSeeEpstein v. Ctyof Suffolk No.14-CV-937, 2016 WL 4257349, at *6
(E.D.N.Y. Aug. 11, 2016) (“Courts in this Circuit have recognized that a plaintiffdeours
“remarkably high?).

Therefore,Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Biandtotile work
environmentlaims
[l Disparate Treatment

Under Title VII and the NYSHRL, a plaintiff may establia claim of disparate treatment
“by showing that he has suffered an adverse job action under circumstancgsiges/ito an
inference of discrimination on the basis of rgmg color.” Price v. Cushman & Wakefield, Inc.
829 F. Supp. 2d 201, 219 (S.D.N.Y. 2011An adverse employment action ‘ia ‘materially
adverse changén the terms and conditions of employment, whictmsre disruptive than a mere
inconvenience or an alteration of job responsibilitiedd.; Davis v. NYS Dep’t of Corrs.tifca
Corr’l Facility, 46 F.Supp. 3d 226, 234 (W.D.N.Y. 2014). Examples of adverse employment
actions include “termination of employment, a demotion evidenced by a decreasganow
salary, a less distinguished title, a material loss of benefits, significantly diedhimaterial
responsibilities, or other indices . unique to a particular situation.Price, 829 F. Supp. 2d at
219.

Bianchi identifies droves of actions that he believes were motivated by racial
discrimination on the part of schoolficfals and his cewvorkers. Having reviewed Bianchi’s
opposition materials, the Court will confine its analysis to only those actiahare even arguably
adversaunder the applicable standard.

First, Bianchi points to his paid leave in Fall 2015 as an adverse employment ddten.

Second Circuit has held that placement on administrative leave with pay during strgatian

14



is not an adverse employment action, reasoning that “the terms and conditions ofregnploy
ordinarily include the possibility that an employee will be subject to an emjdogisciplinary
policies in appropriate circumstancesJoseph v. Leavitt465 F.3d 87, 91 (2d Cir. 2006).
Although Bianchi’s leave was different because it was informal and he was natgbedf an
internal investigation, he nonetheless fails to presentttastsowthat his short paid leave resulted
in any tangible negative changes to his employment condit®es.Ishoo v. Bdf Regents Univ.
of Nev Mexicq No. CIV-06-0747, 2007 WL 929216, at *9 (D.N.M. Sept. 29, 2007) (“In most
cases, restoration of an employee to his or her original position at the end of a shodpeEidien
results in the employee suffering no loss in pay, benefits, digo9.

Leaving aside the absence of an adverse action, Bianchi moubtdherwise make out a
claim based on his paid leave. Defendants’ proffgrstificationfor the leave was that Bianchi
felt uncomfortable returning to school given thevoarker conflicts and “blackface” rumoiSee
ECF No. 3844 at 25 (deposition of Rodney Moore). Indeed, Bianchi suggested such leave himself
in his phone calls with Moore And at the end of his nearly monthlong leaB&nchi did not
lobby to return to school budctively protested against it.See, e.g.ECF No. 38 at 8, 12
(questioning why the district felt “it would be a good idea to force [him] back befme
investgation was completed”); ECF No. 38 at 17 (emphasizing that he was “forced” and
“ordered” back to school). The Court fails to see how the school district’s action can be found
pretextualn light of Bianchi’s statements to school officials advocatingfid leave.

Second Bianchicites his transfer as an adverse agtanthe theory that he “had no other
option but to either return to a racially hostile work environment or transfer iy anveesirable
new position.” ECF No. 56 at 45. Many courts have permitted a plaintiff to proceed oa such

theory—sometimes known as “constructive demotio@laes v. Boyce Thompson Infsir Plant

15



Research88 F. Supp. 3d 121, 126 (N.D.N.Y. 2015). Under this doctrine, “a voluntary transfer to
a materially inferior position becomes actionable as a constructive in&ogfuransfer when an
employer creates conditions so difficult or unpleasant that a reasonable perseould have
been compelled to request and acckptttansfer.” United States v. N.Y.C. Dep’'t of Edudo.
16 Civ. 4291, 2017 WL 435940, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 31, 2017). But because Bianchi has not
made out a hostile work environmetdim, he cannot satisfy the even more demanding standard
for a constuctive demotion claim. Cf. Zick v. Waterfront Comm’n of N.Y. Harbdo. 11 Civ.
5093 2012 WL 4785703, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 4, 2012) (“Conditions that do not qualify as a
hostile work environment under Title VIl are, by definition, sofficiently intolerable to force an
employee to quit).

Third, Bianchi argues that school officials’ failure to investigate hisptaimts thoroughly
and fairly is an adverse action. But a number of courts in this Circuit hl/ehaean employer’s
failure to investigate an employee’s complaint does not amount to an adverseneemplagtion.
See, e.gPrice, 808 F. Supp. 2d at 69Rjchardson v. Suffolk Bus CoyiNo.09-CV-3586 2010
WL 2606266, at *10 n.8 (E.D.N.Y. June 22, 2010) (collectingase

Because none of the actions allegedly taken by Defendants amounts to an adverse action,
Bianchi’'s disparate treatment claims fail, and Defendants are entitled to syjoaigment on

those claims.

® To the extent Bianchi bases his claim on the tfaat his transfer position was matificult than he had

been told he fails to show that this was anything more than an unintentional gher&ianchi cites no
evidence to show that Mauricenife—the relevant decisionmakeknew or believed that Bianchi's
teaching conditions would be more onerous than he claimed.
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IV.  Retaliation Claims

Title VII and the NYSHRL prohibit discriminatory retaliation against an emgoybo
complains of a unlawful practice.“To establish a prima facie case of retaliationa plaintiff
must generally show that: (1) he engaged in a protected activity byiogpmogractice made
unlawful by Title VII; (2) his employer was aware of that activity; (3) hdesetl a materially
adverse employment action; and (4) there was a causal connection between thedpotiedly
and the adverse employment actiofiscombe v. N.Y.C.dp’'t of Educ, 39 F. Supp. 3d 396, 401
(S.D.N.Y. 2014).“An adverse employment action for purposes of a retaliation claim is dree tha
reasonable employee would have foundmaterially adverse, which in this context means it well
might have dissuaded a reaable worker from making or supporting a charge of discrimination.”
Senno v. Elmsford Union Free Sch. Di82 F. Supp. 2d 454, 473 (S.D.N.Y. 2011Adverse
employment actions in the context of a retaliation claim cover a broader oacgnduct than in
the discrimination context.1d.

If the plaintiff succeedsn establishing a prima facie casdhen a presumption of
retaliation arises and the employer must articulate a legitimateetalratory reason for the action
that the plaintif alleges was retaliatory.BowenHooks v. City of New Yorik3 F. Supp. 3d 179,
220 (E.D.N.Y. 2014):If the employer succeeds at the second stage, the presumption of retaliation
dissipates, and the plaintiff must show that, but for the protected activity, she would nbebave
[adversely affected] Id.

As with his disparate treatmemiaims Bianchi’s retaliation claims cannot survive
summary judgmentin his opposition material8jianchiidentifiesscores of negative interactions
that he hadvith school officials and cavorkers labelling them all forms of retaliationSee

generallyfECF No. 562. The Court has reviewed Bianchi’'s materials and, for the sake of brevity

17



and judicial economyimits its analysis to those allegedly retaliatagtions that have an arguable
basis in fact or law.See Daviwv. N.Y.S. Dep't of Corrs. Attica Corr’'l Facilityt10 F. Supp. 3d
458, 463 (W.D.N.Y. 2015) (stating that“trivial harms—i.e.,, those petty slights or minor
annoyances that often take place at work and that all employees expeiaeaasot adverse
actions for purposes of a retaliation claim).

First, Bianchi’s claim that he was placed on paid leave as retaliation f&iisre is no
genuine dispute in the record that, once the “blackface” remdaced Bianchi expressed his
discomfort abouteturning to school.Bianchi suggested staying home from work on multiple
occasionsand objected to his return in late Octoli2015. Because Defendants merely
implementeda remedythat Bianchi himself hadaised no reasonable juror could conclude that
Defendants took aadverseemployment action against Biancbi thatthey did so due to a
retaliatory motive.

Second, Bianchi’s clairthat histransfemwas retaliatoryails for similar reasonsAlthough
Bianchi did not viewhis new position favorably, it is undisputed that he chose to transfer to the
new position and was not compelled to do Sabjectively, Bianchi may have found ppiesent
working conditions intolerable, but the Court cannot conclude Ereiendants’ action was
adverse—i.e., that a reasonable worker would be dissuaded from engaging in protected activity
merely because the employer assented to the employee’s request to transferets pseajic
workplace conflicts and some distressing rum@#t.Davis 110 F. Supp. 3d at 4§4A reasonable
employee would not consider a mutuadigreeable transfer such as the transfer at issue here
materially adversé); St. Juste v. Metro Plus Health PlahF. Supp. 3d 287, 327 (E.D.N.Y. 2014).

Third, Bianchi argues that school officials failed to properly handle his camwplai

retaliation for his protected activityThe Second Circuit has said that “an emplog/éailure to
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investigate a complaint of disorination cannot be considered an adverse employment action
taken in retaliation for the filing of the same discrimination complaiRincher, 604 F.3cat716.

But it can be if the failure is in retaliation for some separate, protected act hyldireiff.” 1d.

at 722. Thereforgynlike in the disparate treatment context,employer’s failure to investigate
can be an adverse employment actianatcurs in retaliation for an employee’s earlier complaint
or other protected activitySee Delisv. Nat'l Ass’n of Prof. Women, Inet8 F. Supp. 3d92, 497
(E.D.N.Y. 2014).

Bianchi argues that Moore, Cromartie, and other district officials begaratielg against
him during the 2014015 school year, when thésiled to adequately investigakés informal
complaints about Frances Rogawrsd Jewell Brown The problemwith this assertions that
Bianchi’'s complaints during the 20:2915 school year cannot constitute protected actiVitiile
informal complaints can amount to protected activity, the complainant “mustah@asonable,
good faith belief that a Title VIl violation has ocoed.” Patrick v. Local Union 282No.99-CV-
8314 2005 WL 2179415, at *4 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 9, 2005p the extent Bianchi held suclbalief,
it was not objectively reasonabl®ace was not explicitly or implicitly implicated in the various
skirmishes btween Bianchi and his agorkers and he mere fact that Bianchi was a different
race from his antagonists does not reasonably raise an inference of racialimkéiom. See
Anderson v. Univ. Orthopaediblo. 16CV-7311, 2016 WL 10567969, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 23,
2016). Rather, the incidents had anatbewious origin: Bianchi and Rogers’s conflict over her
role at the school. Thus, Bianchi’s retaliation claims cannot be founded on the cosr@aimdade
during the 2014-2015 school year.

By contrast Bianchi’'s September 2015 complaiagainst Berry and Rogers overtly

implicates racial discriminatiorand therefore constitutes protected activitiNevertheless,
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Bianchi’s retaliation claincannot proceed on the theory that Defendants inadequately invektigate
his first discrimination complaint due to retaliation, becauséftikire to investigate a complaint

of discrimination cannot be considered an adverse employment action taketiaticettor the

filing of the same discrimination complaiht Fincher, 604 F.3d at 716. Accordingly, Bianchi
does not have wmiable retaliationclaim based on how Defendants handled his first complaint
against Berry and Rogers.

Bianchi’'s claim for retahtion based on his second complairalso notviable The only
causal connection Bianchi shows between the filing of his first complaint and theoflac
investigation in his second complaint is temporal proximity. Temporal proxicaity under
certain circumstances, suffice to establish the causality el@haprima facie case of retaliation.
See Febrianti v. WorldwigdéNo. 15-CV-635 2016 WL 502027, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 8, 2016).
But courts should also not ignore other surrounding facts that render such an inference
unreasonableSee id.Here, the reard shows that the school district investigated Bianchi’s other
formal complaints, including another complaint he filed subsequent to his second camplaint
the present record, it would bareasonable to infer that Defendants retaliated against Biaychi
refusing to investigate his second complaint but then chose to investigate his thpldiobm
approximatelyone month laterAdditional indicia of retaliatory motive would be required to draw
that inference.Cf. id. (declining to draw inference of causation from temporal proximity where
the eventsih no way suggest that the temporal proximity is anything but coincidenge

Regarding Bianchi’s third complairtiis claim fails because Heas notdemonstrated how
the third complaint was inadequately investigated. To the contrary, the intiestigas
extremely thorough and resulted in a written reprimand being issuatstaBarry. Therefore,

Bianchi has not demonstrated an adverse action with respeetttarthcomplaint.
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Accordingly,Defendantsare entitled to summary judgment on the retaliation claims.
V.  Constitutional Claims
Bianchi bringsanequal protection claim under 8§ 1983 against Cromartie and Moate
an equal protection claim under the New York Constitution againBeédndants.Because the
Title VII claims are not viable againBiefendantsBianchi’s constitutionalklaims cannot survive
summary judgmentSee Vega v. Hempstead Union Free Ba$t., 801 F.3d 72, 91 (2d Cir. 2015)
(“As in discrimination claims, the elements of a retaliation claim based on an eceatipro
violation under 8§ 1983 mirror those under Title Ylj.-Town of Southold v. Town of East Hampton
477 F.3d 38, 52 n.3 (2d Cir. 2007) (noting that the equal protection clauses of the Federal and State
Constitutions are coextensive).
In sum for the reasons discussed abdvefendants’ motion for summary judgment is
grantedas to allthreedefendants.
VI.  Defendants’ Motion for Miscellaneous Relief
Defendantsequest that the Court:
1. Exclude from consideration for purposes of summary judgment:
a. Bianchi’s audio recordings;
b. Exhibits “C5” and “C6";and
c. Exhibit “U”.
2. Strike Bianchi’s opposition because he failed to redact minors’ namascordance
with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 5.2.
3. Sealvarious exhibits that contain confidential or personal information.
The Court has already dealt with many of these requests in the course of mydhedéindants’
motion for summary judgment. As to the remaining requests, the Court declines I stric
Bianchi’'s opposition or his supporting documents on the ground that he filed confidential

information publicly. However, he Court agrees thagiven the sheer amount of sensitive

information contained imBianchis opposition materialghey should be sealed. Thé#re, the
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Clerk of Court is directed to seal Bianchi’'s opposition to Defendants’ motion fomamynm
judgment (ECF No. 56) and a#latedexhibits and materials
CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed abdefendants’ motion for summary judgment (ECF [98)
is GRANTED. The complaint is DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE, atite Clerk of Court is
directed to enter judgment in Defendants’ favor and close this case.

Defendants’ motion for miscellaneous relief (ENB. 57) is GRANTED IN PART and
DENIED IN PART. The Clerk of Court is directed to seal Bianchi’s opposition to Defendants’
motion for summary judgment (ECF No. 56) and all exhibits and materials includedithe

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

Dated: SeptembeB0, 2019
Rochester, New York jf Q

HO “ERANK P. GERAQI, JR.
ChlefJudge
United States District Court
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